Registered Number: 00190137

Megger Instruments Limited

Report and Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 November 2018

AIURDAY



Table of Contents

| Corporat | e Information | 2 |
|------------|---|------------|
| Strategic | Report | 3 |
| Directors | 'Report | 5 |
| Auditor's | Report | 8 |
| Income S | tatement | 1 |
| Statemen | t of Comprehensive Income | 1 |
| Statemen | t of Financial Position | 12 |
| Statemen | t of Changes in Equity | 12 |
| Notes to t | he Financial Statements | |
| 1. | Accounting Policies | 13 |
| 2. | Turnover | 18 |
| 3. | Operating profit | 18 |
| 4. | Interest receivable and similar income | 18 |
| 5. | Interest payable and similar charges | 18 |
| 6. | Taxation | 19 |
| 7. | Directors' emoluments | 20 |
| 8. | Staff Costs | 20 |
| 9. | Investments in group undertakings | 21 |
| 10. | Intangible assets. | 21 |
| 11. | Tangible fixed assets | 22 |
| 12. | Stocks | 2 2 |
| 13. | Debtors | 22 |
| 14. | Creditors | 23 |
| 15. | Deferred taxation | 23 |
| 16. | Provisions for liabilities | 23 |
| 17. | Share capital | 23 |
| 18. | Finance lease commitments | 24 |
| 19. | Operating lease commitments | 24 |
| 20. | Capital commitments | 24 |
| 21. | Related party transactions | 24 |
| 22. | Reserves | 24 |
| 23. | Pension arrangements | 25 |
| 24. | Ultimate parent company and controlling party | 26 |

Directors

G M Heritage

R R C Titeca

C P Nicholls

B Phillips

N F Cooke

A C Dodds

Secretary

A M Jordan

Auditor

Grant Thornton UK LLP 2nd Floor St. John's House Haslett Avenue West Crawley RH10 1HS

Registered office

Avocet House Archcliffe Road Dover Kent CT17 9EN

Strategic Report

Strategy of the company

The strategy of Megger Instruments Limited reflects that of Megger Group Limited at 30 November 2018 being the design, manufacture and sale of test instrumentation for the electrical transmission and distribution applications and telecommunications networks.

Performance and development of the company during the period

The profit for the year after taxation amounted to £8,663,000 (2017 - £8,496,000). The directors declared and paid a dividend of £7,239,000 (2017 - £9,791,000).

The company's key financial and other performance indicators during the year were as follows

| | 2018 | 2017 | Change |
|-------------------------------------|--------|--------|--------|
| Turnover (£000) | 34,358 | 32,238 | 7% |
| Total operating profit (£000) | 10,573 | 10,478 | 1% |
| Average monthly number of employees | 243 | 236 | 3% |

Turnover increased by 6.6% in the year as a combined result of new product releases, increased sales and support focus in key areas, some large orders won and improving market conditions

Operating profit was 0.9% higher partly as a result of increased sales, new product releases, manufacturing efficiency improvements and a control of overheads.

Efficiency improvements were made through a Lean manufacturing programme and investment in new manufacturing plant increased output without increasing headcount in production areas.

The company continued to invest heavily in Research and Development.

Future developments

The major programmes for Megger instruments Limited include further expansion and investment in New Product Development prompting growth and increased share of key target markets, further improvements in manufacturing process control and operational efficiency and in the effectiveness of material sourcing.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties facing Megger Instruments Limited are exchange rate, legislation and economic conditions, liquidity and cash flow.

Exchange rate risks

Megger Instruments Limited procures material internationally and over 50% of its purchases are US Dollar or Euro denominated. Generally the period of time between order receipt and payment is limited and currency gains and losses on individual transactions are not significant. However, over the year Megger Instruments Limited results can be significantly affected by fluctuations in exchange rates. This is partly mitigated by operating bank accounts in the major currencies used.

Legislation risk

The company is fully supportive of health and safety and environmental improvement, but is at a continual disadvantage compared with international competitors, and faces potential design and supply issues as regulations continue to change. The company aims to mitigate these risks by holding regular compliance meetings, adopting ISO standards and has introduced a business continuity project.

Strategic Report

Economic conditions risks

The demand for electrical test and measurement products continues with growth driven from a steady world-wide increase in energy demand which is predicted to continue. With this and the ongoing increase in renewables and sustainability the focus is changing as key industries, such as construction and transportation, respond to changing legislation and consumer demand, providing further opportunities for the Company.

2018 has seen recovery in some key markets and beneficial revenue growth has resulted from this and stronger coordination across the Megger group. Uncertainties in stock markets, oil and commodities, foreign exchange, USA government activities and the actions of other governments focused on reducing national debt continue. The economic conditions surrounding Brexit and the UK's lack of formal agreement but now imminent exit from Europe has heightened uncertainty and is expected to have some impact on Megger Instruments Limited with moderate levels of trade both into and from the EU. Mitigating actions are however being taken to reduce potentially unfavourable impact to the business from the possible eventualities.

Whilst the economic conditions for 2019 remain uncertain the structure and commercial diversity of Megger Instruments business continues to offset some of the risks created:

- The Company's products form a balanced portfolio with differing but limited lifetimes so replacements are needed periodically creating a significant ongoing demand for products.
- The gradual refocus of the electrical markets is providing new opportunities for the company
- Legislation changes not only continue but are increasing, providing an opportunity for the Company as product demand in many key markets is directly linked to ongoing product compliance.
- The Company continues to expand its market share focusing on Voice of the Customer and introducing a variety of new products, addressing new opportunities and demands for upgrades.
- Ageing infrastructure maintenance will continue regardless of economic conditions.
- The company continues its strategy of long term investment and focus on efficiency improvements.

Despite the continuing uncertainties in economic outlook for 2019 there are many opportunities for growth and with a number of market areas stronger than recent years the company is taking steps to expand its manufacturing operations and is expected to remain strongly profitable and cash positive.

Liquidity and cash flow risks

The company aims to mitigate liquidity risk by managing cash generation throughout its operations and by applying cash generation procedures. The company manages cash flow risk by careful negotiation of terms with fellow group companies, customers and suppliers and maintains available funds to enable it to meet its liabilities as they fall due.

On behalf of the board

G M Heritage Director

5 February 2019

Directors' Report

The directors present their report and accounts for the year ended 30 November 2018.

The strategic report on page 3 includes discussion on the following:

- Strategy of the company
- Performance and development of the company during the period
- Future developments
- Risks and uncertainties facing the business

Principal activity

The company's principal activity continued to be the development and manufacture, marketing and distribution of electrical and electronic testing and measuring instruments.

Going concern

A financial review of the results and financial position of Megger Group, which includes Megger Instruments Limited, occurs each month with the whole Board of Megger Instruments Limited and the board of Megger Group Limited. The group and the company has considerable financial resources together with established long-term relationships with a number of customers and suppliers. As a consequence, the directors believe that the company is well placed to manage its business risks and liquidity successfully.

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts. The directors have reviewed the forecasts for the company for the following year and the predictions for growth in revenue and gross profit are conservative.

Employees

The company gives full consideration to applications for employment of disabled persons where the candidate's particular aptitudes and abilities are consistent with adequately meeting the requirements of the job. Opportunities are available to disabled employees for training, career development and promotion.

Where existing employees become disabled, it is the company's policy to provide continuing employment wherever practicable in the same or an alternative position and to provide appropriate training to achieve this aim.

The company holds regular meetings with employee representatives to discuss the company's financial results, any significant operating issues, the future plans of the company and other matters of concern to its employees.

Their consultation is generally through informal channels, but is supplemented by an Information & Consultation Committee, whose members are elected by the employees.

Modern Slavery Act

Megger Group is committed to operating all aspects of its supply chain to ethical, environmental, social and safe business best practice. As such Megger requires all vendors supplying the company to operate to the same high standards, noting that vendors shall operate within the rules, laws and regulations applicable to the country of origin. The supply chain code of conduct used and operated by Megger Group has been developed to detail the expectations from all vendors. This is our minimum standard of practice expected, which includes appropriate due diligence to address the Modern Slavery Act 2015, implementing effective systems and controls to prevent and detect modern slavery. All vendors must be capable of demonstrating their procedures for compliance upon request and during vendor audits, which are regularly implemented in high risk countries.

Megger reviews its supply chains and operations on an ongoing basis to check compliance with the policy, and to ensure the policy is implemented effectively.

Directors' report

Directors

The directors who served during the year and to the date of this report were as follows:

C D Potts (resigned on 23rd March 2018)

G M Heritage

R R C Titeca

B Phillips

C P Nicholls

N F Cooke (appointed 3rd May 2018)

A C Dodds

Statement of directors' responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report and Directors' Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law, including FRS 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland'). Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Directors' qualifying third party indemnity provisions

The Company's parent undertaking has granted an indemnity to one or more of its directors against liability in respect of proceedings brought by third parties, subject to the conditions set out in section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying third party indemnity provision remains in force as at the date of approving the Directors' report.

Research and development activities

The company has a programme of research and development projects in order to develop new products in line with market demand and to respond to rapid change in new technology and a programme of current development projects which address on going enhancements to existing products.

Directors' report

Disclosure of information to the auditors

The directors confirm that:

- so far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor is unaware; and
- the directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that information.

Auditors

In accordance with s485(4) of the Companies Act 2006 a resolution to appoint Grant Thornton UK LLP as auditors will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the board

G M Heritage Director

5 February 2019

Independent auditor's report

to the members of Megger Instruments Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Megger Instruments Limited (the 'company') for the year ended 30 November 2018 which comprise the Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Equity and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102; The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 30 November 2018 and of its profit for the year then ended;
- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

- the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
- the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that
 may cast significant doubt about the company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis
 of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are
 authorised for issue.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information other than the financial statements and our auditor's report there on. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independent auditor's report

to the members of Megger Instruments Limited

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the information given in the directors' report and the strategic report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
- the directors' report and the strategic report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matter on which we are required to report under the Companies Act 2006

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the directors' report or the strategic report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or.
- certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement set out on page 6, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Independent auditor's report

to the members of Megger Instruments Limited

Monten Ut UP

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Jonathan Maile BSc (Hons) FCA

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP

Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants

Crawley

6 February 2019

Income Statement

for the year ended 30 November 2018

| | | 2018 | 2017 |
|---|-------|--------------|--------------|
| | Notes | £000 | £000 |
| Turnover | 2 | 34,358 | 32,238 |
| Cost of sales | | (15,875) | (15,333) |
| Gross profit | | 18,483 | 16,905 |
| Distribution costs | | (1,726) | (1,484) |
| Administrative expenses | | (2,459) | (2,159) |
| Research and development expenses | | (3,725) | (2,784) |
| Operating profit | 3 | 10,573 | 10,478 |
| Interest receivable and similar income | 4 | 462 | 468 |
| Interest payable and similar charges | 5 | (483) | (529) |
| Profit on ordinary activities before taxation | | 10,552 | 10,417 |
| Taxation | 6 | (1,889) | (1,921) |
| Profit for the financial year | | <u>8,663</u> | <u>8,496</u> |

All operations are continuing for the years ended 30 November 2018 and 2017.

Statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 30 November 2018

| | | 2018 | 2017 |
|---|----|--------------|--------------|
| | | £000 | £000 |
| Profit for the financial year | | 8,663 | 8,496 |
| Actuarial (loss) / gain in respect of defined benefit pension schemes | 23 | (485) | 1,562 |
| Tax (credit) / charge in respect of defined benefit pension scheme | | 82 | (265) |
| Total comprehensive income for the financial year | | <u>8,260</u> | <u>9,793</u> |

Wholly attributable to shareholders of Megger Instruments Limited

The accounting policies and notes on pages 13 to 26 form part of these financial statements.

Statement of Financial Position

at 30 November 2018

| | | 2018 | 2017 |
|---|-------|--------------|---------------|
| | Notes | £000 | £000 |
| Fixed assets | | | |
| Intangible assets | 10 | 4,715 | 5,069 |
| Tangible assets | 11 | <u>4,904</u> | 4,753 |
| - | | 9,619 | 9,822 |
| Current assets | | | |
| Stocks | 12 | 4,343 | 3,588 |
| Debtors | 13 | 5,151 | 4,725 |
| Cash at bank and in hand | | 3,140 | 2,516 |
| • | | 12,634 | 10,829 |
| Creditors: amount falling due within one year | 14 | (3,536) | (3,257) |
| Net current assets | | 9,098 | 7,572 |
| Total assets less current liabilities | | 18,817 | 17,394 |
| Provisions for liabilities | 16 | (863) | (880) |
| Defined benefit pension liability | 23 | (962) | (643) |
| Net assets | | 16,892 | <u>15,871</u> |
| Capital and reserves | | | |
| Called up share capital | 17 | 6,000 | 6,000 |
| Profit and loss account | | 10,892 | 9,871 |
| Shareholder's funds | | 16,892 | 15,871 |
| | | | |

Statement of changes in equity

| | | | Total |
|--|--------------|---------------|---------------|
| | Share | Profit and | Shareholders' |
| | Capital | loss account | Funds |
| | £000 | £000 | £000 |
| As at 1 December 2016 | 6,000 | 9,869 | 15,869 |
| Profit for the year | - | 8,496 | 8,496 |
| Dividends paid | - | (9,791) | (9,791) |
| Actuarial gain in respect of defined pension schemes net of deferred tax allowance | | 1,297 | 1,297 |
| At 30 November 2017 | <u>6,000</u> | <u>9,871</u> | <u>15,871</u> |
| Profit for the year | - | 8,663 | 8,663 |
| Dividends paid | - | (7,239) | (7,239) |
| Actuarial loss in respect of defined pension schemes net of deferred tax | | (403) | (403) |
| At 30 November 2018 | 6,000 | <u>10,892</u> | <u>16,892</u> |

The financial statements, including the accounting policies and notes on pages 13 to 26 were approved by the board of directors on 1 February 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

G M Heritage Director

5 February 2019

Registered Number: 00190137

For the year ended 30 November 2018

1. Accounting policies

Company information

Megger Instruments Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in England and Wales

Megger Instruments Limited's functional currency is sterling

Megger Instruments Limited's registered address is Archcliffe Road, Dover, Kent, CT17 9EN

Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 – 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland' ('FRS 102'), and with the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

Statement of cash flows

The directors have taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 102 from including a statement of cash flows in the financial statements on the grounds that the company is wholly owned and its parent publishes consolidated financial statements which are publically available.

Significant judgements

Preparation of the financial statements requires management to make significant judgements. The items in the financial statements where these judgements have been made include:

- Impairment of intangible assets
- Defined benefit pension liability, note 23

Consolidation

The financial statements contain information about Megger Instruments Limited as an individual company and do not contain consolidated financial statements as the parent of a group. The company is exempt under section 400 of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirements to prepare financial statements as it and its subsidiary undertakings are included by full consolidation in the consolidated financial statements of its parent, Megger Group Limited, a company registered in England and Wales.

Basis of preparation

The individual accounts of Megger Instruments Limited have also adopted the disclosure exemption in respect of financial instrument disclosures, including:

- categories of financial instruments,
- items of income, expenses, gains or losses relating to financial instruments, and
- exposure to and management of financial risks.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when ownership has passed to the buyer, which is typically on dispatch of goods, and is recognised net of VAT and discounts. Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised on the provision of those services.

Investments in Group Undertakings

The cost of fixed asset investments is their purchase cost, together with any incidental expenses of acquisition. The carrying values of fixed asset investments are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Tangible assets

Tangible fixed assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Demonstration stock is capitalised as tangible fixed assets when held for use in the business and is amortised over its estimated useful life. On disposal to third parties, the item is transferred to stock at the lower of its carrying cost or net realisable value, and the disposal recognised through revenue and cost of sale.

For the year ended 30 November 2018

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write off the cost or valuation, less estimated residual value based on prices prevailing at the date of acquisition or revaluation, of each asset evenly over its expected useful life, as follows:

Freehold buildings

25 years

Plant, equipment and motor vehicles

3 - 10 years

Capital works in progress are depreciated from the point at which the asset becomes in service.

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Intangible Assets

Capitalised software is capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of between 3 and 5 years. Amortisation of other intangibles is charged so as to allocate the cost of the intangibles over its estimated useful life (1-5 years) on a straight-line basis.

Development expenditure is recognised on an individual project basis as an intangible asset where the Company can demonstrate:

- The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale
- Its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset
- How the asset will generate future economic benefits
- The availability of resources to complete the asset
- The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development

Amortisation is included in the Research and development expenses line in the Income Statement.

The carrying values of intangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The basis for impairment is the review of future cash flows from sales of products subject to research and development products on a simple payback calculation to assess if an impairment event is identified. Should that be found then a full impairment review including discounted cash flows will be undertaken.

Stocks and work in progress

Stocks and work in progress are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first in, first out basis and includes transport to the company's facilities and handling costs; in the case of manufactured products, cost includes all direct expenditure and production overheads based on the normal level of activity. Net realisable value is the price at which stocks can be sold in the normal course of business after allowing for the costs of realisation and, where appropriate, the cost of conversion from their existing state to a finished condition.

Provision is made, where necessary, for obsolete, slow moving and defective stock.

Taxation

The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the period as adjusted for disallowable items.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date. Timing differences are differences between the company's taxable profits and its results as stated in the accounts.

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the timing differences are expected to reverse based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the Statement of Financial Position date.

For the year ended 30 November 2018

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the Statement of Financial Position date.

All differences are taken to the Income Statement.

Financial instruments: basic

The company enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the recognition of financial assets and liabilities like cash, trade and other accounts receivable and payable, loans from banks and other third parties and loans to related parties.

Debt instruments (other than those wholly repayable or receivable within one year), including loans and other accounts receivable and payable, are initially measured at present value of the future cash flows and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Debt instruments that are payable or receivable within one year, typically trade payables or receivables, are measured, initially and subsequently, at the undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration, expected to be paid or received.

Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost are assessed at the end of each reporting period for objective evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of impairment is found, an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between an asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. If a financial asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.

For financial assets measured at cost less impairment, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between an asset's carrying amount and best estimate, which is an approximation of the amount that the company would receive for the asset if it were to be sold at the balance sheet date. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position when there is an enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

I.eases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset to the Company. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised initially at the fair value of the leased asset (or, if lower, the present value of minimum lease payments) at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation using the effective interest method so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are deducted in measuring profit or loss. Assets held under finance leases are included in tangible fixed assets and depreciated and assessed for impairment losses in the same way as owned assets.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless the rental payments are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation, in which case the Company recognises annual rent expense equal to amounts owed to the lessor.

The aggregate benefit of lease incentives are recognised as a reduction to the expense recognised over the lease term on a straight line basis.

For the year ended 30 November 2018

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Pensions

The main pension fund is a contributory, defined benefit, externally funded scheme which is contracted out of the UK state scheme. The scheme was closed to new employees on 4 April 2000 and then, all future accrual of benefit under the scheme for existing members was suspended with effect from 31 December 2003. The fund will continue to be valued by professionally qualified independent actuaries, and contributions to the fund are charged to the Income Statement in accordance with the long-term funding rate as advised by the actuaries.

Following full consultation with its employees, the company closed the scheme with effect from 31 December 2003. For this closed scheme, as the age profile of the active membership rises, the current service cost will rise significantly as members approach retirement.

Scheme assets are measured at fair values. Scheme liabilities include the discounted value of future scheme administration costs. The Scheme liabilities are measured annually on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method and are discounted at appropriate high quality corporate bond rates of equivalent currency and term of the scheme liabilities. The net surplus or deficit is presented separately from other net assets on the Statement of Financial Position. A net surplus is recognised only to the extent that it is recoverable by the Group.

Past service costs are recognised over the period in which the benefit changes vest. Interest on the scheme liabilities and the expected return on scheme assets are included in finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses are reported within the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

A UK defined contribution scheme, contracted into the UK state scheme was opened on 1 October 2000 to both existing and new employees. This has now been replaced by a Stakeholder Pension scheme.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount expected to be required to settle the obligation is recognised at present value using a pre-tax discount rate. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost in profit or loss in the period it arises.

For the year ended 30 November 2018

Accounting policies (continued)

Going concern

A financial review of the results and financial position of Megger Group, which includes Megger Instruments Limited, occurs each month with the whole Board of Megger Instruments Limited and the board of Megger Group Limited. The group and the company has considerable financial resources together with established long-term relationships with a number of customers and suppliers. As a consequence, the directors believe that the company is well placed to manage its business risks and liquidity successfully.

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts. The directors have reviewed the forecasts for the company for the following year and the predictions for growth in revenue and gross profit are conservative.

Long-term bonus plans

A certain employee of the company participates in a long-term bonus plan set up by Megger Group Limited. Provisions are made for the estimated liability for this plan at each financial year-end, based upon current and estimated future business performance.

For the year ended 30 November 2018

2. Turnover

Turnover excludes value added tax but includes transactions with fellow subsidiaries of the ultimate parent company and represents the invoiced value of goods and services supplied.

The company operates in only one continuing class of business and all sales originate from the United Kingdom.

Geographical analysis of turnover would be seriously prejudicial to the interest of the company in the opinion of the Directors and as such has not been disclosed.

| | Sale of goods Rendering of services | 2018 £000 33,569 | 2017 £000 31,369 869 32,238 |
|----|--|--|---|
| 3. | Operating profit | | |
| | This is stated after charging/ (crediting): | | |
| | Depreciation of tangible fixed assets - owned assets - leased assets Amortisation of intangible fixed assets Hire of plant and equipment | 2018 £000 957 4 1,462 31 | 2017 £000 841 5 1,287 25 |
| | Other operating leases Auditors' remuneration - annual audit services Foreign currency exchange differences Loss on sales of fixed assets Impairment of investments in group undertakings Research and development costs | 78 24 (19) (1) - | 74 23 1 (3) 31 2,784 |
| 4. | Interest receivable and similar income | 2018 £000 | 2017 £000 |
| | Expected return on pension scheme assets Other | 462 | 462 6 468 |
| 5. | Interest payable and similar charges | | |
| | Interest on pension scheme liabilities Other | $ \begin{array}{r} 2018 \\ £000 \\ 482 \\ \underline{\qquad \qquad 1} \\ 483 \end{array} $ | 2017 £000 528 1 529 |

For the year ended 30 November 2018

6. Taxation

(a) Analysis of charge for the year

| | 2018 | 2017 |
|--|-------|-------|
| | £000 | £000 |
| UK corporation tax - current year | 2,055 | 2,004 |
| - adjustments in respect of prior periods | (57) | (97) |
| | 1,998 | 1,907 |
| Deferred taxation: | | |
| Origination and reversal of timing differences | (101) | 21 |
| Adjustment in respect of prior periods | (18) | (5) |
| Effect of change in tax rates | 10 | (2) |
| | 1,889 | 1,921 |

(b) Factors affecting current tax charge for the year

The tax charge for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax 19.00% (2017: 19.33%). The differences are explained below:

| | 2018 | 2017 |
|--|--------|---------------|
| | £000 | £000 |
| Profit on ordinary activities before tax | 10,552 | <u>10,417</u> |
| Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of | | |
| corporation tax of 19.00% (2017: 19.33%). | 2,004 | 2,014 |
| Expenses not deductible for tax purposes | (66) | 37 |
| Income not taxable | (13) | (7) |
| Adjustment to charge in respect of previous period – corporation tax | (76) | (102) |
| Tax rate changes | 10 | (2) |
| Other differences | 30 | (19) |
| | 1,889 | 1,921 |

(c) Factors affecting future tax charge

At the Summer Budget 2015, the government announced legislation setting the Corporation Tax main rate (for all profits except ring fence profits) at 19% for the years starting the 1 April 2017, 2018 and 2019 and at 18% for the year starting 1 April 2020. At Budget 2016, the government announced a further reduction to the Corporation Tax main rate (for all profits except ring fence profits) for the year starting 1 April 2020, setting the rate at 17%

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 30 November 2018

| _ | | | |
|----|--|-------------------------|-----------------|
| 7. | Directors' emoluments | 2010 | 2015 |
| | | 2018 | 2017 |
| | A correcte ameluments | £000 653 | £000 612 |
| | Aggregate emoluments | | |
| | Included in the aggregate emoluments was an amount paid to a pension £22,502 (2017: £ 6,653). | on scheme in respect of | Directors of |
| | The key management personnel of Megger Instruments Limited are c Directors. | onsidered to be the Boa | ard of |
| | | | |
| | | 2018 | 2017 |
| | Number of directors accruing benefits under defined benefit | No. | No. |
| | pension schemes | 1 | 1 |
| | | | - Cab - b : -b4 |
| | The emoluments, excluding contributions to the company's defined b paid director of the company are detailed below: | enefit pension scheme, | of the highest |
| | | 2018 | 2017 |
| | | £000 | £000 |
| | Aggregate emoluments | 120 | 112 |
| | Pension contributions to money purchase pension schemes for the hig £443). Payable amount at year end £178 (2017:£37). | hest paid director was | £1,802 (2017: |
| | The Group has a long-term bonus plan for certain Directors. No Directin 2018 (2017: NIL). | ctors received anything | from the plan |
| 8. | Staff costs | | |
| | | 2018 | 2017 |
| | | £000 | £000 |
| | Wages and salaries | 7,358 | 6,623 |
| | Social security costs Other pension costs | 698 146 | 642 63 |
| | Other pension costs | 8,202 | 7,328 |
| | | | 1,520 |
| | The average monthly number of employees during the year was as fol | lows: | |
| | | 2018 | 2017 |
| | | No. | No. |
| | Production | 172 | 169 |
| | Administration | 16 | 13 |
| | Selling and distribution | 13 | 12 |
| | Engineering | 42 | 42 |
| | | <u>243</u> | <u>236</u> |

For the year ended 30 November 2018

9. Investments in group undertakings

| | 2018 | 2017 |
|------------------------|--------------|------|
| | £000 | £000 |
| Cost: | | |
| At 1 December 2017 | - | 31 |
| Impairment | _ | (31) |
| As at 30 November 2018 | <u>-</u> _ | |

On 7 March 2012, the company acquired 100% of the share capital and voting rights of Relay Engineering Services Limited, a UK incorporated company that manufactured and distributed test and measurement equipment. This is the only investment in group companies.

During the year the value of the investment was reviewed and deemed to have decreased as operations of the subsidiary undertaking have now ceased.

The subsidiary undertaking was dissolved on the 3rd January 2017.

10. Intangible assets

| Development | Software | Total |
|--------------|----------------------------------|--|
| costs | | |
| £000 | £000 | £000 |
| | | |
| 7,346 | 1,712 | 9,058 |
| 1,032 | 76 | 1,108 |
| (206) | _ | (206) |
| 8,172 | 1,788 | <u>9,960</u> |
| | | |
| 2,530 | 1,459 | 3,989 |
| 1,308 | 154 | 1,462 |
| (206) | - _ | _(206) |
| 3,632 | <u>1,613</u> | 5,245 |
| | | |
| <u>4,540</u> | <u>175</u> | <u>4,715</u> |
| 4,816 | <u>253</u> | 5,069 |
| | 2,530 1,308 (206) 3,632 | costs £000 £000 7,346 1,712 1,032 76 (206) |

For the year ended 30 November 2018

11. Tangible fixed assets

| | | Plant, | | |
|---------------------|--------------|---------------|------------|---------------|
| | Freehold | equipment | Capital | |
| | land and | and motor | Works in | |
| | | | Progress | Total |
| | buildings | Vehicles | 8 | |
| | J | | | Total |
| • | £000 | £000 | £000 | £000 |
| Cost: | | | | |
| At 1 December 2017 | 6,146 | 12,535 | 350 | 19,031 |
| Additions | 34 | 737 | 345 | 1,116 |
| Disposals | - | (744) | - | (744) |
| Transfer of assets | 227 | <u> 123</u> | _(350) | |
| At 30 November 2018 | <u>6,407</u> | <u>12,651</u> | <u>345</u> | <u>19,403</u> |
| Depreciation: | | | | |
| At 1 December 2017 | 4,280 | 9,998 | - | 14,278 |
| Charge for the year | 259 | 702 | - | 961 |
| Disposals | - | <u>(740)</u> | <u>-</u> | <u>(740)</u> |
| At 30 November 2018 | <u>4,539</u> | <u>9,960</u> | | <u>14,499</u> |
| Net book value: | | | | |
| At 30 November 2018 | <u>1,868</u> | <u>2,691</u> | <u>345</u> | <u>4,904</u> |
| At 1 December 2017 | <u> </u> | <u>2,537</u> | <u>350</u> | <u>4,753</u> |
| | | | | |

Included within plant, equipment and motor vehicles are assets with a net book value of £nil (2017- £4,177) held under finance leases.

12. Stocks

| | 2018 | 2017 |
|-------------------------------------|--------------|--------------|
| | £000 | £000 |
| Raw materials and consumables | 3,377 | 2,638 |
| Work in progress | 122 | 140 |
| Finished goods and goods for resale | 844 | 810 |
| | <u>4,343</u> | <u>3,588</u> |

The amount of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was £11,234,000 (2017: 11,133,000)

13. Debtors

| | 2018 | 2017 |
|------------------------------------|------------|--------------|
| | £000 | £000 |
| Trade debtors | 332 | 298 |
| Amounts owed by group undertakings | 4,049 | 3,758 |
| Other debtors | . 311 | 301 |
| Prepayments | <u>459</u> | <u> </u> |
| | 5,151 | <u>4,725</u> |

For the year ended 30 November 2018

| 14. | Creditors: amounts falling due within one | e year | | |
|-----|---|-------------------|-----------------|-------------------|
| | | | 2018 | 2017 |
| | | | £000 | £000 |
| | Trade creditors | | 1,092 | 1,112 |
| | Amount owed to group undertakings | | 299 | 47 |
| | Other creditors | | 689 | · 630 |
| | Corporation tax | | 845 | 820 |
| | Other taxes including VAT and social securit | ty costs | 193 | 177 |
| | Accruals and deferred income | 0) | 418 | 468 |
| | Obligations due under finance leases (note 18 | 8) | 3,536 | $\frac{3}{3,257}$ |
| | | | | <u>3,237</u> |
| 15. | Deferred Taxation | | | |
| | | | 2018 | 2017 |
| | Deferred taxation is included in the balance. | sheet as follows: | £000 | £000 |
| | Included in provisions for liabilities (note 16) | | (703) | (812) |
| | Included in defined benefit pension liability (| (note 23) | <u> 256</u> | <u> 173</u> |
| | | | (447) | (639) |
| | | | 2018 | 2017 |
| | 771 1 7 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 | | | 2017 |
| | The deferred tax balance comprises: Accelerated depreciation/capital allowances | | £000 (703) | £000 |
| | Pension costs (note 23) | | (703) 256 | (812) 173 |
| | 1 chsion costs (note 25) | | | |
| | | | (447) | (639) |
| 16 | Provisions for Liabilities | | | |
| 10. | I Tovisions for Liabilities | Deferred | Deferred | Total |
| | | Tax | | Total |
| | | Tax | Employee | |
| | | | Compensation | |
| | 1.0037 | £000 | £000 | £000 |
| | At 30 November 2016 | 799 | 34 | 833 |
| | Charged to the income statement At 30 November 2017 | $\frac{13}{812}$ | $\frac{34}{68}$ | <u>47</u> 880 |
| | At 30 Proveiliber 2017 | | 0 | 000 |
| | (Credited)/Charged to the income statement | (109) | 92 | (17) |
| | At 30 November 2018 | <u>703</u> | <u> 160</u> | <u>863</u> |

The provision for deferred employee compensation relates to a long term incentive plan designed to incentivise senior management. Provisions are made for the estimated liability for these plans at each financial year-end.

17. Share capital

| - | Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid | |
|---|---|-------|
| | | |
| | 2018 | 2017 |
| • | £000 | £000 |
| 6,000,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each (2017: 6,000,000) | <u>6,000</u> | 6,000 |
| All shares carried full voting and distribution rights. | | |

For the year ended 30 November 2018

18. Finance lease commitments

| | 2018 | 2017 |
|---|--------------|------------|
| | £000 | £000 |
| Amounts payable: | | |
| - Within one year | - | 3 |
| - Between one and five years | _ | |
| | | 3 |
| 19. Operating lease commitments | | |
| | 2018 | 2017 |
| | £000 | £000 |
| Commitments for the next 12 months for operating leases which expire: | | |
| - Within one year | 122 | 125 |
| - Between one and five years | <u> 280</u> | 351 |
| • | <u>402</u> | <u>476</u> |

These leases are related to the company's fleet of motor cars and vending equipment.

20. Capital commitments

The company had capital commitments for building works and plant & machinery of £342,385 at 30 November 2018 (2017: £525,556).

21. Related party transactions

The company has taken advantage of exemption available under FRS 102 not to disclose related party transactions with members of the Megger Group Limited and TBG AG groups as the company's share capital is wholly owned. There are no other related party transactions.

22. Reserves

Called-up share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Profit and loss account includes all current and prior period retained profits and losses.

For the year ended 30 November 2018

23. Pension arrangements

Megger Instruments Limited (formerly Megger Limited) used to provide a defined benefit pension scheme to employees, but all future accrual of benefit under the scheme was suspended with effect from 31 December 2003.

An independent actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 5 April 2015. The market value of the scheme investments at that date was £16,170,000 which was £775,000 below the actuarial value of benefits that had accrued to members at the valuation date. It was agreed that the level of funding should be decreased to the rate of £10,000 per month from September 2016.

The valuation used has been based on the most recent actuarial valuation at 5 April 2015 and updated by the scheme actuary in order to assess the liabilities of the scheme at 30 November 2018. Scheme assets are stated at their market values at the respective balance sheet dates.

| | 2018 | 2017 |
|---|------|------|
| Discount rate | 2.8% | 2.6% |
| Inflation assumption | 2.5% | 2.4% |
| Rate of increase to pensions - Pre retirement | 2.2% | 2.1% |
| - Post retirement (pre 4/97) | 2.8% | 2.7% |
| - Post retirement (post 4/97) | 3.4% | 3.3% |

The assets and liabilities of the scheme and the expected return at 30 November are:

| | 2018 | 2017 |
|-------------------------------------|------------------|------------------|
| | Value | Value |
| | £000 | £000 |
| Equities | 11,498 | 12,367 |
| Gilts | 1,830 | 1,834 |
| Bonds | 3,782 | 3,922 |
| Cash | <u> 167</u> | 59 |
| Total market value of scheme assets | 17,277 | 18,182 |
| Present value of scheme liabilities | <u>(18,495</u>) | <u>(18,999</u>) |
| Deficit in the scheme | (1,218) | (817) |
| Deferred tax asset (note 16) | <u> 256</u> | <u> 174</u> |
| Net pension liability | <u> (962)</u> | <u>(643</u>) |

For the year ended 30 November 2018

23. Pension arrangements (continued)

Analysis of the defined benefit cost for the year ended 30 November 2018 is as follows:

| Analysis of the defined benefit cost for the year ended 30 November. | 2018 is as follows: | |
|---|------------------------|------------------|
| | 2018 | 2017 |
| Amounts recognised in profit and loss | £000 | £000 |
| Administration costs | 78 | 76 |
| Net interest expense | 20 | 66 |
| Amount charged to profit and loss | 98 | 142 |
| Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income | | |
| Actual loss expected return on pension scheme assets | (524) | 1,621 |
| Experience (loss) / gain arising on scheme liabilities | (7) | 154 |
| Gain / (losses) arising from changes in assumptions | | |
| underlying present value of scheme liabilities Actuarial (loss) / gain recognised in the statement of other | 46 | (213) |
| comprehensive income | (405) | 1,562 |
| · | (485) | 1, <u>J02</u> |
| Reconciliation of scheme liabilities during the year: | | |
| | 2018 | 2017 |
| | | |
| Calcana liabilitica et tha basinaire of the array | £000 | £000 |
| Scheme liabilities at the beginning of the year | (18,999) | (19,321) |
| Total other finance expense Benefits paid | (482) 947 | (528) 909 |
| Actuarial gain / (losses) | 39 | (59) |
| At 30 November | | |
| At 30 November | <u>(18,495</u>) | <u>(18,999</u>) |
| Reconciliation of scheme assets during the year: | | |
| | 2018 | 2017 |
| | £000 | £000 |
| Market value of assets at the beginning of the year | 18,182 | 16,892 |
| Interest income | 462 | 462 |
| Actuarial (losses) / gains | (524) | 1,621 |
| Employer contributions | `18 2 | 192 |
| Benefits paid | (947) | (909) |
| Administration costs | (78) | (76) |
| At 30 November | $\frac{(78)}{-17,277}$ | 18,182 |
| | <u></u> | |

24. Ultimate parent company and controlling party

The directors consider that the company's ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party is TBG AG, based at Claridenstrasse 26, 8002 Zurich, Switzerland. TBG AG was incorporated in Switzerland.

TBG AG is the largest undertaking of which the Company is a member.

Megger Group Limited is the parent of the smallest group for which group financial statements are prepared. Copies of the accounts of Megger Group Limited can be obtained from Megger Group Limited, Archcliffe Road, Dover, Kent, CT17 9EN.